
 

Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m. September 7, 2021 Regular Meeting 

Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 

 

Call to Order by Mayor Jeremy Stutsman 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll: Megan Eichorn (District 4)   Julia King (At-Large)          Jim McKee (District 1) 

Doug Nisley (District 2)   Gilberto Pérez, Jr. (District 5)      Matt Schrock (District 3) 

Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)     Youth Advisor Adrian Mora (Non-voting) 

Approval of Minutes – August 17, 2021 

Approval of Meeting Agenda   

Privilege of the Floor 

Presentation    Aaron Kingsley and Solid Waste Disposal 
 

I. Public Hearing 
 

II. Ord. 5094 (1st/2nd Reading) Additional Appropriation 
 

III. Res. 2021-27    Transfer of Funds to the Rainy Day Fund 
 

IV. Ord. 5095 (1st/2nd Reading) Authorizing Preapproved Payments for Certain Expenses  
 

V. Ord. 5096 (1st Reading)  An Ordinance of the City of Goshen, Indiana, authorizing the issuance and  
sale of bonds of the City for the purpose of providing funds to be used for 
the costs of the acquisition, renovation and construction of City 
administration buildings, office space and infrastructure, together with all 
necessary appurtenances, related improvements, equipment and 
incidental expenses in connection therewith 

 
VI. Ord. 5097 (1st Reading)  An Ordinance of the City of Goshen Appropriating the Proceeds of the  

       General Obligation Bonds of 2021 
 

VII. Ord. 5098 (1st/2nd Reading) Approving the Transaction of Lease/Purchase Agreement for a  
Combination Sewer Truck and Lease Document 

 
VIII. Appointment of new Council Member to Plan Commission 

 
Elected Official Reports 
 
Adjournment 



                                                                            

   1 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Minutes of the Common Council – Regular Meeting of Aug. 17, 2021 
6:00 p.m. Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 

 

Mayor Jeremy Stutsman called the meeting to order at 6 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Present: Julia King (At-Large), Jim McKee (District 1), Doug Nisley (District 2),  

Gilberto Pérez, Jr. (District 5), Matt Schrock (District 3),  

Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large), Youth Advisor Adrian Mora (Non-voting) 

Absent: Megan Eichorn (District 4   

 

Nisley/McKee moved to approve the minutes of the Aug. 3, 2021 meeting. Passed 6-0 

 

King/Weddell moved to approve the agenda as presented with the exception of moving the Privilege 
of the Floor from the start of the meeting to just before Elected Official Reports. Passed 6-0. 

 

1. Council Resolution 2021-26 to approve the sale of real estate along West Plymouth Avenue near 
the Elkhart River 

Mayor Stutsman called the agenda item and Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read 
the Council Resolution 2021-26 by title only, which was done.  

Weddell/McKee moved for passage of Council Resolution 2021-26. 

Mayor Stutsman said the resolution called for the city to approve the sale of a small portion of real estate. 
The resolution called for the sale of 0.103 acres (for $1,000) and the sale of 0.386 acres (for $4,326) to the 
Indiana Department of Transportation for a planned public improvement project – the replacement of the 
bridge over the Elkhart River on State Road 119 (West Plymouth Avenue) adjacent to Shanklin Park. 

Staff explained the sale was requested to work on the bridge and to have access afterward for 
maintenance. Mayor Stutsman said neither he nor the city Engineering Department objected to the request. 

There were no public comments – either in the chamber or online – on the resolution. 

Voice vote to pass Council Resolution 2021-26. Passed 6-0. 



                                                                            

   2 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Privilege of the Floor 

Mayor Stutsman reminded the audience that City Council rules limit public comments to three minutes per 
speaker. He stated that Council President Weddell would be keeping track of time and informing speakers 
when their time limit had been reached. Council member Nisley requested that members of the public who 
had previously addressed the council not repeat the same talking points. Council members discussed the 
length of time to allow for public comments. Weddell said the council would allow 30 minutes for comments 
and could allow for an additional 30 minutes if needed. Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre provided a sign-up sheet 
and asked that speakers print their names and their city of residence. Weddell stated that this information 
was being requested to provide an accurate record of the speakers. 

Terry Hartman of Goshen said he wanted to address comments made at recent City Council meetings. 
Hartman said no council members commented on the bravery of a woman who discussed the positive 
impact of the Christian faith on her life. He disagreed with two council members who stated that “love is 
love,” adding that only the Bible defines love and it says God is love. He said the Mayor and a few council 
members said they supported the LGBTQ community, but Hartman said Goshen is not an LGBTQ 
community. He also stated that Christians don’t hate people and that Jesus taught love, acceptance and 
repentance. Hartman said, “Christians are not anti-people, we’re anti-sin, and yes, our own sin as well.” 
Hartman also said, “The last council meeting I got that impression that we were talking about hate, and the 
inference was that Christians are hateful. That’s the impression I got. I just don’t think this kind of talk from 
the council is helpful to our community.” 

Phillip Crawford of Goshen said that over the past month it appears there has been a battle at City Council 
and school board meetings and that this has made him unhappy. Crawford said he doesn’t want to be the 
source of division. He said his previous comments were focused on objecting to the cancelled LGBTQ pride 
event, but not LGBTQ people. Crawford said, “I want to make it clear that we are not coming to attack this 
community, and the LGBT people that live here. We’re expressing our concerns as Christian believers for 
events like the drag show, because we believe from our Christian standpoint it’s unacceptable.” Crawford 
said Christians are not hateful people. Crawford said Christians accept others and believe all are welcome 
and have rights, “but we are not willing to back down when it comes to issues like drag shows.” Crawford 
also presented council members with a document about the Christian roots of the City of Goshen. 

Linda Hartman of Goshen said that for the past few months she has observed poor decorum at council 
meetings. She said council members should always have “poker faces” when people testify. Instead, 
Hartman said some council members have demonstrated by their facial expressions that they disagree with 
speakers and as a teacher and children’s pastor, she believes this is unacceptable and unprofessional. She 
encouraged council members to do better and to seek to represent the entire community. 

 



                                                                            

   3 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Brock Richardson of Goshen said that the conservative Christians speaking to the council and school board 
in recent weeks continue to demand that elected officials violate the separation of church and state and 
ignore the rights of others. Richardson said, “They forget that no one in this country is obligated by any law 
to abide by their faith. Scripture or hate speech they dress up as their Bible.” Richardson said the council 
should not enforce homophobic laws to appease a small group. Richardson said, “When equality and 
diversity is seen in action, we see oppressors complain of being oppressed, or non-tolerated. We should 
make it clear that tolerance doesn’t mean tolerating hate.” Richardson said all people, including his family, 
should be represented. He also cited a case of homophobia when he lived in Michigan.  

Jonah L. Farran of Goshen thanked council members King and Perez and Mayor Stutsman for previous 
email communication. Farran said he is concerned about the sprawl of development in the City of Goshen. 
Farran said the new intermediate school was built in a remote location that will force more driving by 
parents taking students to and from school and will discourage students from walking and biking to school. 
He said new residential and industrial development is also encouraging more vehicle trips, discouraging 
biking and walking and reducing public transit opportunities. Farran said climate goals are being violated 
and public safety is being jeopardized by this type of continued development. Farran said the city council 
should promote policies that encourage mix-used zoning and in-fill development, preserve wetlands and 
make more improvements for pedestrians and bicyclists. 

Pamela Weishaupt of Goshen said she agreed with some of the concerns voiced by Jonah L. Farran. She 
expressed appreciation for the city’s parks, including Fidler Pond Park and the Shoup-Parsons Woods Park 
and Goshen Dam. Weishaupt also said this is a difficult time and that the community is sorting through 
difficult issues. Weishaupt also asked how the city evaluates or determines whether to approve 
development proposals. She also asked how the city determines whether to use any public funds as part of 
development proposals.  

Mayor Stutsman said he would reach out to Pamela Weishaupt by email and explain the process. 

Pamela Weishaupt thanked the mayor. She added that at a recent City Council meeting, a speaker 
discussed adding fluoride to city water. Weishaupt said she has concerns about this idea and would like 
more discussion about this. She also thanked City Council members for all they are doing. 

Robert Waldusky of Goshen said Christians are not haters. He cited Biblical scripture that stated that 
people were punished in Sodom and Gomorrah, not because of who they were, but because they 
committed criminal offenses, disobeyed God, and were prideful. Waldusky said council members have 
been prideful and have disregarded citizen concerns about development, traffic, and other matters. 
Waldusky said residents are aware of how the council has acted and that he and others plan to share 
videos of council members to the public. 

 



                                                                            

   4 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

 

Lori Arnold of Goshen asked if video of City Council meetings is made available to those who cannot attend 
or watch the live Zoom video. 

Mayor Stutsman asked city Communications Coordinator Sharon Hernandez to respond. Hernandez said 
audio recordings are posted online after they are processed, but not videos. The Mayor said the large size 
of video files has made it difficult to post videos of council meetings. 

Lori Arnold asked how long it takes to post audio recordings of council meetings. She said it appeared 
council minutes have not been posted on the city’s website since 2019. 

Mayor Stutsman said he could not state what minutes are available on the city’s website, but said anyone 
can contact the city and get copies of the minutes of City Council meetings. He said he would check on the 
council minutes on the website. 

Emily Bush-Pearson of the city Clerk-Treasurer’s Office said that members of the public can view or obtain 
copies of council minutes by contacting the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office. She said the office was in the process 
of positing more council minutes on the city’s website. 

Lori Arnold said she and others testifying over the past month at council meetings continue to have 
concerns about the canceled youth drag show and the threat of Antifa targeting conservative citizens and 
businesses in Goshen. Arnold said, “While you have all voiced your support for the LGBT, none of you 
have addressed these two issues. Please don’t be deceived into believing this is just an attack on the gay 
community by hateful Christians.” Arnold said that “as a non-Christian, bisexual woman, who has spent 
hours speaking with many of these Christians that could not be further from the truth.” Arnold condemned 
sexualizing children and hate group violence. Arnold said the mayor and council members should take 
these matters seriously. She said, “We will continue to bring them before you until you do.” Arnold also said 
she believes Goshen Community Schools will be implementing a mask requirement for students, as soon 
as this coming Monday, and that she and many others would object. 

Mayor Stutsman said that the City of Goshen has no role in requiring masks. All previous mask mandates 
were ordered by the state and the county. Mayor Stutsman also asked those who testified what exactly 
they were asking the City Council to do – pass a resolution or ordinance? 

Janet Waldusky of Goshen said the council, as the city’s governing body, should take action to protect 
children. Waldusky said that the City Council should work with the Goshen schools superintendent to 
protect children. She said society doesn’t allow sex offenders and child molesters to be near children. 
Waldusky also said the council should pass a resolution and legislation to protect children. 

Mayor Stutsman pointed out that 30 minutes of public comments had now passed. He and council 
members discussed allowing others to speak. Mayor Stutsman asked if anyone else wanted to speak. 



                                                                            

   5 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Lori Arnold said she wanted to respond to Mayor Stutsman’s question. She said, “One thing you can do is 
you could disavow Antifa. That’s a real simple thing that all of you could do – disavow Antifa.” Arnold said 
Antifa is a hate group that has been active in Goshen and has attacked store owners in Goshen. She said, 
“That is unacceptable. Why can’t any of you say anything about it? We want you to be speaking up.” 

Council member King asked if anyone in city government was aware of such Antifa activity. Mayor 
Stutsman asked Assistant Police Chief Shawn Turner is there was any evidence that Antifa was active in 
the city. Stutsman said he does not support Antifa. 

Assistant Police Chief Turner said, “We have nothing to substantiate a group as Antifa that is in Goshen. 
We have anecdotal comments, people making statements, that seem to attribute activities to Antifa, but 
there is no intelligence that I’m aware of an organized group that exists in Goshen under the heading 
Antifa.” 

Council member King said that Antifa is short for anti-fascist, and said she did not support fascists, either. 
Mayor Stutsman responded, “I don’t either. I think we can all agree we don’t support that.” 

Council member Nisley said he didn’t support any hate group, regardless what it was. He said that if there 
is a hate group in Goshen, he would expect the city would take swift action against it.  

Council member King said that if large numbers of people had come to a council meeting and criticized 
Christians, she would have said publicly that she stood with her Christian neighbors instead. King stated 
that she conveyed this to Phillip Crawford after the first council meeting, when people first objected to the 
canceled drag show. She also said it is sad when one segment of the community opposes another. 

Council member Nisley said that if Antifa or another group is causing problems, people should file 
complaints, and he is confident Goshen Police will respond. Nisley said, “We can’t just go to people’s doors 
and knock on their door and say, ‘Hey, you’re Antifa. We’re coming after you.’ We can’t do that. So, we 
need to have the proof that this is going on.” Nisley said he has yet to hear an answer to the Mayor’s 
question of what people want the City Council to do about the canceled drag show. Nisley said, “We’re 
bound by our state Constitution. We can’t just make a law up out of our head to go after people.” 

Responding to council member Nisley, Council member King said the council is not an enforcement body. 
Youth Adviser Mora, in response, said empirical evidence is tangible and anecdotal evidence is not.  

Mayor Stutsman noted that three Police Chiefs were present for the meeting and that he is grateful for all 
they do for the community. The Mayor said that he knows they are responsive to all community concerns.  

Mayor Stutsman said that he has great respect for Assistant Chief Turner and he apologized that someone 
in the audience called Turner a “liar” during his comments about Antifa. Stutsman said, “That was very 
disrespectful … and I appreciate you and I’m proud to serve with you.” 

Mayor Stutsman closed the Privilege of the Floor at 6:46 p.m. 



                                                                            

   6 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Elected Official Reports 

Council President Weddell said the city Redevelopment Commission met last week and received a nice 
presentation on the downtown River District Plan. Weddell said council members Schrock and Eichorn 
served on the group that developed the plan. Weddell said the commission also heard from parties 
proposing the Indiana Avenue Apartments proposal. 

Council member Schrock reported on the East Goshen Neighborhood Association gathering, which was a 
success.  Schrock reported that the Park Board met last Monday night and discussed various matters, 
including Allan Kauffman Park and Abshire Park. Schrock also said the two neighborhood associations in 
his district, Chamberlain and East Goshen, would appreciate more public involvement. 

Council member Pérez thanked city employees for their good work last week responding to the storm 
damage. City crews were out by 6:30 or 7 a.m. helping residents. Perez said his neighborhood lost trees, 
branches and electrical power. One on his neighbors with electricity offered the use of a refrigerator to store 
food for neighbors who lost power. Perez said it was a good example of neighbors helping neighbors. He 
said city employees did the same. 

Mayor Stutsman said employees from many city departments, including Parks, Streets and Cemeteries, 
went out early and responded to the storm damage and made sure people were safe. Stutsman said 
NIPSCO was great to work with. Police and Fire were also busy. Stutsman said he also he heard many 
stories of neighbors helping neighbors and was proud to be part of Goshen. 

Council member Nisley said the West Goshen Neighborhood Association had a successful picnic over the 
weekend and Council member King was present. Nisley said neighbors would like to have an open air 
pavilion at their park. Nisley said he would like the city to explore this possibility. Mayor Stutsman said he 
would raise the possibility with the Parks Department. 

Council President Weddell said that after the last City Council meeting, city Planning & Zoning 
Administrator: Rhonda Yoder informed him that the City Council will need to appoint a new member to the 
city Plan Commission after Council member Jim McKee leaves the council. It will be for a four-year term, 
ending in 2023 Weddell said he hopes this can be decided at the next City Council meeting. Mayor 
Stutsman said he would make sure this is on the agenda. Council members King and Nisley indicated that 
they both would be interested in serving on the city Plan Commission. 

Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre said he wanted to make some comments because he missed the last council 
meeting, when Council member McKee’s said he would be stepping down from the council. Aguirre said he 
wanted to thank and congratulate McKee for his superlative service as a council member. Aguirre thanked 
McKee for his kindness and respectful conduct over the years despite being from a different political party 
than Aguirre. He also thanked McKee for his service to the city.  



                                                                            

   7 | P a g e   
Aug. 17, 2021 | City Council Minutes 

 
 

 

Council member McKee responded: “There’s never any reason why you shouldn’t be nice to people no 
matter what politics you are. Just be nice to people.” 

Aguirre also said he wanted to thank city staff for their response to the storm. He said many city employees 
worked extra hours and over the weekend. 

Mayor Stutsman the city is exploring the purchase of generators for City Hall and the City Annex. He said 
the city is seeking quotes to purchase generators so city work can continue during power outages, 

Mayor Stutsman also reported that Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre had to decide quickly in June whether to pursue 
appointment as Clerk-Treasurer when the position became vacant. Stutsman said Aguirre had previously 
scheduled a vacation to California. After being appointed, Stutsman said Aguirre felt badly that he would be 
taking a vacation so quickly after being appointed. In response, Stutsman said Aguirre decided to donate 
some of the salary he received to the city Fire and Police Departments. Stutsman thanked Aguirre. 

Council member Pérez said a Parkside Neighborhood Association resident told him that homes frequently 
lose power during storms. The neighbor suggested that generators be purchased for some areas. Pérez 
said it would be good for the city to consider buying generators for select neighborhoods. Council member 
King said that extra heating and cooling options would be a good related idea. 

 

Nisley/King moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Mayor Stutsman adjourned the meeting at 7:01 p.m. 

 

APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor of Goshen 

 

ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City Clerk-Treasurer 



ORDINANCE 5094 
 
 

Additional Appropriation 
 
 

WHEREAS it has been determined that it is necessary to appropriate more money than the amount 
appropriated in the current year’s annual budget. 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to notice given, the Goshen Common Council conducted a public hearing on the 
proposed additional appropriation. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Goshen Common Council makes the following additional 
appropriation of money in excess of the current year’s budget for the fund(s) named: 
 

General Fund  
101-510-00-452.0004 General / Transfers Out $500,000 
   
Economic Development Income Tax Fund  

218-560-00-431.0502 EDIT Tax / Chamber of Commerce $30,000 
 
 
 
PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2021. 
 
             
       Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2021, at ________ 
a.m./p.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2021. 
 
             
       Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 
 

COUNCIL RESOLUTION 2021-27 
 
 

TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE RAINY DAY FUND 
 
 
WHEREAS the City of Goshen has established a Rainy Day Fund pursuant to the provisions of Indiana 
Code § 36-1-8-5.1. 
 
WHEREAS the Goshen Common Council wishes to transfer certain funds into the Rainy Day Fund. 
 
WHEREAS there is an unobligated cash balance from 2021 in the General Fund.  The amount to be 
transferred does not exceed ten percent (10%) of the City’s total annual budget adopted under Indiana Code 
§ 6-1.1-17 for the current year, is not from a debt service fund, and the transfer is not otherwise prohibited 
by law. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Goshen Common Council that the following funds shall 
be transferred to the Rainy Day Fund: 
 

Fund Name         Amount 
 
 General Fund         $500,000 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this transfer to the Rainy Day Fund shall be reported to the Department 
of Local Government Finance. 
 
PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on September _____, 2021. 
 
             
       Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on September _____, 2021, at ________ a.m./p.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on September _____, 2021. 
 
             
       Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 

1 

ORDINANCE 5095 
 
 

Authorizing Preapproved Payments for Certain Expenses 
 
 

WHEREAS it is sometimes necessary to pay an invoice or bill for certain expenses prior to receiving the 
approval of the board having jurisdiction over the allowance of the payment of the claim. 
 
WHEREAS Indiana Code § 36-4-8-14 permits a legislative body to adopt an ordinance to authorize the 
fiscal officer to make claim payments in advance of board allowance for certain general categories of types 
of expenses. 
 
WHEREAS Indiana Code § 36-4-8-14 further requires the board having jurisdiction over the allowance of 
the claim payments to approve in writing the general categories of types of expenses that the fiscal officer 
is authorized to make prior to the board’s allowance. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen that: 
 
(A) In accordance with Indiana Code § 36-4-8-14 and subject to the City board approval under 

paragraph (B), the City’s fiscal officer is authorized to pay claims, as invoices or bills for the 
expenses are received prior to allowance by the board, for the following general categories of types 
of expenses: 

(1) Property or services purchased or leased from the United States government, its agencies, 
or its political subdivisions. 

(2) License or permit fees. 

(3) Insurance premiums. 

(4) Utility payments or utility connection charges. 

(5) General grant programs where advance funding is not prohibited and the contracting party 
posts sufficient security to cover the amount advanced. 

(6) Grants of state funds authorized by statute. 

(7) Maintenance or service agreements. 

(8) Leases or rental agreements. 

(9) Bond or coupon payments. 

(10) Payroll. 

(11) State, federal, or county taxes. 

(12) Expenses that must be paid because of emergency circumstances. 



 

2 

(13) GPD Proactive Investigative Team expenses. 

(14) Real estate purchase or sale expenses in accordance with a previously approved agreement. 

(15) Security deposit refunds in accordance with a previously approved agreement. 

(16) Surety releases in accordance with a previously approved agreement. 

(17) Credit card payments, but only when prior board approval cannot be obtained so as to avoid 
payment of interest charges and late fees. 

(B) The City board having jurisdiction over the allowance of the claim payments shall give the fiscal 
officer written approval to pay claims, as invoices or bills for the expenses are received prior to 
allowance by the board, for any or all of the general categories of types of expenses set forth in 
paragraph (A). 

(C) Each payment of expenses authorized pursuant to this ordinance must be supported by a fully 
itemized invoice or bill for the claim, and be audited and certified as true and correct by the fiscal 
officer. 

(D) The City board having jurisdiction over the allowance of the claim shall review and allow the claim 
at its next regular or special meeting following the preapproved payment of the expense. 

(E) All ordinances and parts of ordinances inconsistent or in conflict with the terms of this ordinance 
are repealed to the extent of the inconsistency or conflict. 

(F) This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and adoption  
according to the laws of the State of Indiana. 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2021. 

             
       Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2021, at ________ 
a.m./p.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2021. 
 
             
       Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5096 
 

An Ordinance of the City of Goshen, Indiana, authorizing the 
issuance and sale of bonds of the City for the purpose of providing 
funds to be used for the costs of the acquisition, renovation and 
construction of City administration buildings, office space and 
infrastructure, together with all necessary appurtenances, related 
improvements, equipment and incidental expenses in connection 
therewith 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen, Indiana ("City") is authorized by IC 36-4-6-19 as in 

effect on the date of issuance of the bonds authorized herein ("Act") to issue bonds to procure 

moneys to be used in the exercise of the powers of the City and for the payment of City debts; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City ("Council") now determines that it is 

necessary and a proper exercise of the powers of the City to finance the costs of the acquisition, 

renovation and construction of City administrative buildings, office space and infrastructure, 

together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements, equipment and incidental 

expenses in connection therewith ("Project"); and  

WHEREAS, based upon the advice of the consultants for the City on the Project, the 

Council has determined that the estimated cost of the Project and the incidental expenses 

necessary to be incurred in connection with the Project and with the issuance of the bonds to 

finance the Project will be in an amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($3,500,000); and 

WHEREAS, the Council finds that the cost of the Project will be financed by the issuance 

of bonds in an amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000) 

for the purpose of providing funds to be applied to the Project, and that the bonds in such amount 

should now be authorized; and 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

WHEREAS, the Council has been advised that it may be cost efficient to purchase 

municipal bond insurance for the bonds authorized herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Council has been advised that the total cost of the Project authorized 

herein will not exceed the lesser of: (i) $5,575,689; or (ii) the greater of (a) one percent (1%) of 

the total gross assessed value of property within the City on the last assessment date, or (b) 

$1,000,000, and, therefore, the bonds will not be issued to fund a controlled project as defined in 

IC 6-1.1-20-1.1; and 

WHEREAS, the certified assessed valuation of taxable property in the City, as shown in 

the last final and complete assessment which was made in the year 2020 for state and county 

taxes collectible in the year 2021, is $1,384,643,991 and the outstanding indebtedness counting 

towards the City's two percent constitutional debt limit is in the amount of $0.00, excluding the 

bonds authorized herein; such assessment and outstanding indebtedness amounts shall be 

verified at the time of the payment for and delivery of the bonds;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. Determination to Proceed; Authorization and Details of Bonds.  (a)  The 

Council shall proceed to undertake the Project. 

(b) In order to procure funds with which to pay the costs of the Project, including the 

costs of issuance of the bonds on account of the Project, the Clerk-Treasurer is authorized and 

directed to have prepared and to issue and sell the bonds of the City, to be designated as "General 

Obligation Bonds of _____" (to be completed with the year in which issued), in an aggregate 

principal amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000) 

("Bonds") in accordance with the Act. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(c) The Bonds shall be sold at a price of not less than 99% of the par value thereof, 

and issued in fully registered form in denominations of either $5,000 or integral multiples thereof 

or minimum denominations of $100,000 and integral multiples of $5,000 thereafter.  The Bonds 

shall be numbered consecutively from 1 upward and shall bear interest at a rate or rates not to 

exceed five percent (5%) per annum (the exact rate or rates to be determined by bidding), which 

interest shall be payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing no 

earlier than February 1, 2022.  Interest on the Bonds shall be calculated according to a 360-day 

year containing twelve 30-day months.  The Bonds shall mature semiannually, or shall be subject 

to mandatory sinking fund redemption if term bonds are issued, on February 1 or August 1 of 

each year with a final maturity date no later than February 1, 2033 and in such amounts which 

will either (i) produce as level annual debt service as practicable which assumes $5,000 

denominations, or (ii) produce as level annual debt service as practicable which assumes $5,000 

denominations, but also takes into account the annual debt service for other obligations of the 

City which are payable from property taxes. 

All or a portion of the Bonds may be issued as one or more term bonds, upon election of 

the successful bidder.  Such term bonds shall have a stated maturity or maturities of February 1 

or August 1 on the dates and in the years as determined by the successful bidder, but in no event 

later than the last serial date of the Bonds as determined in accordance with the above paragraph.  

The term bonds shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption and final payment(s) at 

maturity at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, 

on dates and in the amounts hereinafter determined in accordance with the above paragraph. 

(d) The Clerk-Treasurer is authorized and directed to appoint a qualified banking 

institution to serve as Registrar and Paying Agent ("Registrar" or "Paying Agent") for the Bonds, 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

which shall be charged with the responsibility of authenticating the Bonds.  The Clerk-Treasurer 

is hereby authorized to enter into such agreements or understandings with such bank as will 

enable the bank to perform the services required of a Registrar and Paying Agent.  The Clerk-

Treasurer is further authorized to pay such fees as the bank may charge for the services it 

provides as Registrar and Paying Agent, and such fees may be paid from the bond fund 

established to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Upon agreement between the City 

and the successful bidder for the Bonds, the Clerk-Treasurer may be designated as the Registrar 

and Paying Agent, and, in that case, shall be charged with all responsibilities of a Registrar and 

Paying Agent. 

(e) The principal of the Bonds shall be payable at the principal corporate trust office 

of the Paying Agent.  Interest on the Bonds shall be paid by check mailed by first class mail one 

business day prior to the interest payment date to the registered owner, as of the fifteenth day of 

the month preceding an interest payment date ("Record Date"), to the address as it appears on the 

registration books kept by the Registrar or at such other address as is provided to the Paying 

Agent in writing by such registered owner.  If payment of principal or interest is made to a 

depository, payment shall be made by wire transfer on the payment date in same-day funds.  If 

the payment date occurs on a date when financial institutions are not open for business, the wire 

transfer shall be made on the next succeeding business day.  The Paying Agent shall be 

instructed to wire transfer payments by 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) so such payments are 

received at the depository by 2:30 p.m. (New York City time).  All payments on the Bonds shall 

be made in any lawful money of the United States of America, which on the date of such 

payment shall be legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(f) Each Bond shall be transferable or exchangeable only upon the books of the City 

kept for that purpose at the principal corporate trust office of the Registrar by the registered 

owner or by its attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender of such Bond together with a 

written instrument of transfer or exchange satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the 

registered owner or its attorney duly authorized in writing, and thereupon a new fully registered 

Bond or Bonds in the same aggregate principal amount and of the same maturity, shall be 

executed and delivered in the name of the transferee or transferees or the registered owner, as the 

case may be, in exchange therefor.  The City and the Registrar and Paying Agent for the Bonds 

may treat and consider the person in whose name such Bonds are registered as the absolute 

owner thereof for all purposes including for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account 

of, the principal thereof and interest due thereon. 

(g) The Bonds shall bear an original date which shall be their issue date and each 

Bond shall also bear the date of its authentication.  Bonds authenticated on or before the Record 

Date immediately preceding the first interest payment date shall be paid interest from the original 

date.  Bonds authenticated thereafter shall be paid interest from the interest payment date to 

which interest has been paid next preceding the date of authentication of such Bonds unless the 

Bonds are authenticated after the Record Date and on or before the corresponding interest 

payment date, in which case interest thereon shall be paid from such interest payment date.  If at 

the time of authentication of any Bond interest is in default thereon, that Bond shall bear interest 

from the date to which interest has been paid in full.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

herein, the Bonds shall not be required to be presented or surrendered to receive payment in 

connection with any mandatory sinking fund redemption until the final maturity date of the 

Bonds or earlier payment in full of the Bonds. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(h) The Bonds shall be signed in the name of the City by the manual or facsimile 

signature of the Mayor, and the seal of the City shall be affixed, imprinted, engraved or 

otherwise reproduced thereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk-

Treasurer.  The Bonds shall be authenticated with the manual signature of an authorized 

representative of the Registrar, and no Bond shall be valid or become obligatory for any purpose 

until the certificate of authentication thereon shall have been so executed.  Subject to registration 

provisions, the Bonds shall be negotiable under the laws of the State of Indiana. 

(i) The Bonds may be redeemable at the option of the City no sooner than five (5) 

years after their date of issuance, on thirty (30) days’ notice, in whole or in part, in the order of 

maturity as determined by the City and by lot within a maturity, at face value, together with no 

premium, plus in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.  The exact 

redemption dates shall be established by the Clerk-Treasurer with the advice of the City’s 

municipal advisor prior to the sale of the Bonds.   

Any Bonds issued as term bonds, upon election of the successful bidder, shall be subject 

to mandatory sinking fund redemption on February 1 or August 1 at 100% of face value in 

accordance with the maturity schedule hereinafter determined in accordance with paragraph (c).  

The Registrar shall credit against the mandatory sinking fund requirement for any term bonds, 

and any corresponding mandatory redemption obligation, in the order determined by the City, 

any term bonds maturing on the same date which have previously been redeemed (otherwise than 

as a result of a previous mandatory redemption requirement) or delivered to the Registrar for 

cancellation or purchased for cancellation by the City and not theretofore applied as a credit 

against any redemption obligation.  Each term bond so delivered or canceled shall be credited by 

the Registrar at 100% of the principal amount thereof against the mandatory sinking fund 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

obligation on such mandatory redemption date for that term bond.  Any excess of such amount 

shall be credited on future redemption obligations, and the principal amount of that term bond to 

be redeemed by operation of the mandatory sinking fund requirement shall be accordingly 

reduced. 

Each Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) principal amount shall be considered a separate 

Bond for purposes of redemption. If less than an entire maturity is called for redemption, the 

Bonds to be called shall be selected by lot by the Registrar.   

In either case, notice of redemption shall be mailed to the address of the registered owner 

as shown on the registration records of the Registrar, as of the date which is forty-five (45) days 

prior to the date fixed for redemption, not less than thirty (30) days prior to such redemption 

date, unless notice is waived by the owner of the Bond or Bonds redeemed.  The notice shall 

specify the date and place of redemption and sufficient identification of the Bonds called for 

redemption.  The place of redemption may be determined by the City.  Interest on the Bonds so 

called for redemption shall cease and the Bonds will no longer be deemed outstanding under this 

ordinance on the redemption date fixed in such notice if sufficient funds are available at the place 

of redemption to pay the redemption price, including accrued interest and redemption premium, 

if any, to the redemption date, on the date so named.  Failure to give such notice by mailing, or 

any defect in such notice, with respect to any Bond shall not affect the validity of any 

proceedings for redemption of other Bonds. 

If the Bonds are not presented for payment or redemption on the date fixed therefor, the 

City may deposit in trust with the Paying Agent, an amount sufficient to pay such Bonds or the 

redemption price, as the case may be, including accrued interest to the date of such payment or 

redemption, and thereafter the registered owner shall look only to the funds so deposited in trust 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

with the Paying Agent for payment, and the City shall have no further obligation or liability in 

respect thereto. 

(j) The City has determined that it may be beneficial to the City to have the Bonds 

held by a central depository system pursuant to an agreement between the City and The 

Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("Depository Trust Company") and have 

transfers of the Bonds effected by book-entry on the books of the central depository system 

("Book Entry System").  The Bonds may be initially issued in the form of a separate single 

authenticated fully registered Bond for the aggregate principal amount of each separate maturity 

of the Bonds.  In such case, upon initial issuance, the ownership of such Bonds shall be 

registered in the register kept by the Registrar in the name of CEDE & CO., as nominee of the 

Depository Trust Company. 

With respect to the Bonds registered in the register kept by the Registrar in the name of 

CEDE & CO., as nominee of the Depository Trust Company, the City and the Paying Agent 

shall have no responsibility or obligation to any other holders or owners (including any 

beneficial owner ("Beneficial Owner")) of the Bonds with respect to (i) the accuracy of the 

records of the Depository Trust Company, CEDE & CO., or any Beneficial Owner with respect 

to ownership questions, (ii) the delivery to any bondholder (including any Beneficial Owner) or 

any other person, other than the Depository Trust Company, of any notice with respect to the 

Bonds including any notice of redemption, or (iii) the payment to any bondholder (including any 

Beneficial Owner) or any other person, other than the Depository Trust Company, of any amount 

with respect to the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds except as otherwise 

provided herein.   



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

No person other than the Depository Trust Company shall receive an authenticated Bond 

evidencing an obligation of the City to make payments of the principal of and premium, if any, 

and interest on the Bonds pursuant to this ordinance.  The City and the Registrar and Paying 

Agent may treat as and deem the Depository Trust Company or CEDE & CO. to be the absolute 

bondholder of each of the Bonds for the purpose of (i) payment of the principal of and premium, 

if any, and interest on such Bonds; (ii) giving notices of redemption and other notices permitted 

to be given to bondholders with respect to such Bonds; (iii) registering transfers with respect to 

such Bonds; (iv) obtaining any consent or other action required or permitted to be taken of or by 

bondholders; (v) voting; and (vi) for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent shall pay 

all principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order of the 

Depository Trust Company, and all such payments shall be valid and effective fully to satisfy 

and discharge the City's and the Paying Agent's obligations with respect to principal of and 

premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  Upon 

delivery by the Depository Trust Company to the City of written notice to the effect that the 

Depository Trust Company has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of CEDE & 

CO., and subject to the provisions herein with respect to consents, the words "CEDE & CO." in 

this ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of the Depository Trust Company.  

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, so long as any Bond is registered in 

the name of CEDE & CO., as nominee of the Depository Trust Company, all payments with 

respect to the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on such Bonds and all notices with 

respect to such Bonds shall be made and given, respectively, to the Depository Trust Company 

as provided in a representation letter from the City to the Depository Trust Company. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

Upon receipt by the City of written notice from the Depository Trust Company to the 

effect that the Depository Trust Company is unable or unwilling to discharge its responsibilities 

and no substitute depository willing to undertake the functions of the Depository Trust Company 

hereunder can be found which is willing and able to undertake such functions upon reasonable 

and customary terms, then the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the 

register of the City kept by the Registrar in the name of CEDE & CO., as nominee of the 

Depository Trust Company, but may be registered in whatever name or names the bondholders 

transferring or exchanging the Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this 

ordinance. 

If the City determines that it is in the best interest of the bondholders that they be able to 

obtain certificates for the fully registered Bonds, the City may notify the Depository Trust 

Company and the Registrar, whereupon the Depository Trust Company will notify the Beneficial 

Owners of the availability through the Depository Trust Company of certificates for the Bonds.  

In such event, the Registrar shall prepare, authenticate, transfer and exchange certificates for the 

Bonds as requested by the Depository Trust Company and any Beneficial Owners in appropriate 

amounts, and whenever the Depository Trust Company requests the City and the Registrar to do 

so, the Registrar and the City will cooperate with the Depository Trust Company by taking 

appropriate action after reasonable notice (i) to make available one or more separate certificates 

evidencing the fully registered Bonds of any Beneficial Owner's Depository Trust Company 

account or (ii) to arrange for another securities depository to maintain custody of certificates for 

and evidencing the Bonds. 

If the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the name of the 

Depository Trust Company, the Registrar shall cause the Bonds to be printed in blank in such 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

number as the Registrar shall determine to be necessary or customary; provided, however, that 

the Registrar shall not be required to have such Bonds printed until it shall have received from 

the City indemnification for all costs and expenses associated with such printing. 

In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to bondholders by 

the City or the Registrar with respect to any consent or other action to be taken by bondholders, 

the City or the Registrar, as the case may be, shall establish a record date for such consent or 

other action and give the Depository Trust Company notice of such record date not less than 

fifteen (15) calendar days in advance of such record date to the extent possible. 

So long as the Bonds are registered in the name of the Depository Trust Company or 

CEDE & CO. or any substitute nominee, the City and the Registrar and Paying Agent shall be 

entitled to request and to rely upon a certificate or other written representation from the 

Beneficial Owners of the Bonds or from the Depository Trust Company on behalf of such 

Beneficial Owners stating the amount of their respective beneficial ownership interests in the 

Bonds and setting forth the consent, advice, direction, demand or vote of the Beneficial Owners 

as of a record date selected by the Registrar and the Depository Trust Company, to the same 

extent as if such consent, advice, direction, demand or vote were made by the bondholders for 

purposes of this ordinance and the City and the Registrar and Paying Agent shall for such 

purposes treat the Beneficial Owners as the bondholders.  Along with any such certificate or 

representation, the Registrar may request the Depository Trust Company to deliver, or cause to 

be delivered, to the Registrar a list of all Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, together with the 

dollar amount of each Beneficial Owner's interest in the Bonds and the current addresses of such 

Beneficial Owners. 

Section 2. Form of Bond.  The form of the Bonds shall be substantially as follows: 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

[Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The 
Depository Trust Company, a New York corporation ("DTC"), to the City of 
Goshen, Indiana, or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange, or payment, 
and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other 
name as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is 
made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR  OTHER USE 
HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS 
WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an 
interest herein.] 

 NO.____ 

STATE OF INDIANA      COUNTY OF ELKHART 
 

CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND OF ________ 

 
[INTEREST 
   RATE   ] 

[MATURITY 
   RATE   ] 

ORIGINAL 
   DATE    

AUTHENTICATION 
        DATE         

 
[CUSIP] 

 
REGISTERED OWNER: 
 
PRINCIPAL SUM: 
 

The City of Goshen, Elkhart County, Indiana ("City"), acknowledges itself indebted, and 
for value received hereby promises to pay, to the Registered Owner or registered assigns, the 
Principal Sum set forth above [on the Maturity Date set forth above] OR [on February 1 and 
August 1 on the dates and in the amounts as set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto] [(unless this 
bond be subject to and be called for redemption prior to maturity as hereinafter provided)], and 
to pay interest hereon until the City's obligation with respect to the payment of the Principal Sum 
shall be discharged at the rate[s] per annum [specified above] OR [set forth on Exhibit A 
attached hereto] from the interest payment date immediately preceding the date of authentication 
of this bond unless this bond is authenticated on or before _______________ 15, 20__, in which 
case interest shall be paid from the Original Date or unless this bond is authenticated between the 
fifteenth day of the month preceding an interest payment date and the interest payment date, in 
which case interest shall be paid from such interest payment date.  Interest shall be payable on 
the first day of February and August each year, commencing _______________ 1, 20__. 

The principal of and premium, if any, on this bond are payable at the principal office of 
________________________ in the _____________ of _________________, _______ ("Paying 
Agent" or "Registrar").  Interest on this bond shall be paid by check mailed by first class mail 
one business day prior to the interest payment date, to the Registered Owner, as of the fifteenth 
day of the month preceding an interest payment date, to the address as it appears on the 
registration books kept by the Registrar or at such other address as is provided to the Paying 
Agent in writing by the Registered Owner.  [Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, 
this bond shall not be required to be presented or surrendered to receive payment in connection 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

with any mandatory sinking fund redemption until the final maturity date of this bond or earlier 
payment in full of this bond.]  If payment of principal or interest is made to a depository, 
payment shall be made by wire transfer on the payment date in same-day funds.  If the payment 
date occurs on a date when financial institutions are not open for business, the wire transfer shall 
be made on the next succeeding business day.  The Paying Agent shall wire transfer payments by 
1:00 p.m. (New York City time) so such payments are received at the depository by 2:30 p.m. 
(New York City time).  All payments on this bond shall be made in any coin or currency of the 
United States of America, which on the dates of such payment shall be legal tender for the 
payment of public and private debts. 

This bond is a general obligation of the City.  The City covenants that it will cause a 
property tax for the payment of the principal of and interest on this bond to be levied, collected, 
appropriated and applied for that purpose as set forth in IC 6-1.1-18.5-8.  The bonds are subject 
to IC 6-1.1-20.6 regarding certain tax credits and the State of Indiana intercept of funds to pay 
debt service on the bonds. 

This bond is [the only] one of an authorized issue of bonds of the City[, of like date, tenor 
and effect, except as to numbering, interest rate and date of maturity]; designated "General 
Obligation Bonds of ____" aggregating ___________________________ Dollars 
($________________); numbered consecutively from 1 upward; issued for the purpose of 
procuring funds to be applied on the costs of the acquisition, renovation and construction of City 
administrative buildings, office space and infrastructure, together with all necessary 
appurtenances, related improvements, equipment and incidental expenses in connection 
therewith and on account of the issuance of bonds therefor, which bonds are issued pursuant to a 
bond ordinance adopted by the Common Council of the City, on the ______ day of 
__________________, 2021 ("Ordinance"), authorizing the issuance and sale of bonds of the 
City and Title 36, Article 4, Chapter 6, Section 19 of the Indiana Code as in effect on the date of 
issuance of this bond. 

This bond is transferable or exchangeable only upon the books of the City kept for that 
purpose at the office of the Registrar, by the Registered Owner or by its attorney duly authorized 
in writing, upon surrender of this bond together with a written instrument of transfer or exchange 
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or its attorney duly 
authorized in writing, and thereupon a new fully registered bond or bonds in the same aggregate 
principal amount and of the same maturity, shall be executed and delivered in the name of the 
transferee or transferees or to the Registered Owner, as the case may be, in exchange therefor.  
The City, the Registrar and the Paying Agent for this bond may treat and consider the person in 
whose name this bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes including for 
the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal hereof and interest due 
hereon. 

[The bonds of this issue maturing on and after ______________ 1, 20___ are redeemable 
at the option of the City, on ______________ 1, 20___, or any date thereafter, on thirty (30) 
days’ notice, in whole or in part, in the order of maturity as determined by the City and by lot 
within a maturity, at face value together with no premium, plus in each case accrued interest to 
the date fixed or redemption.] 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

[The bonds maturing on __________________, 20____ are subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption prior to maturity, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof 
plus accrued interest, on the dates and in the amounts set forth below: 

    _______ Term Bond 
    Date  Amount 
 
     * 
 
*  Final Maturity 
 

Each Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) principal amount shall be considered a separate 
bond for purposes of redemption.  If less than an entire maturity is called for redemption, the 
bonds to be called shall be selected by lot by the Registrar. 

Notice of redemption shall be mailed to the address of the registered owner as shown on 
the registration record of the Registrar, as of the date which is forty-five (45) days prior to the 
date fixed for redemption, not less than thirty (30) days prior to such redemption date, unless said 
notice is waived by the registered owner of this bond.  Any notice shall specify the date and 
place of redemption and sufficient identification of the bonds called for redemption.  The place 
of redemption may be determined by the City.  Interest on the bonds so called for redemption 
shall cease on the redemption date fixed in such notice, if sufficient funds are available at the 
place of redemption to pay the redemption price, including interest accrued to the redemption 
date, on the date so named.  Failure to give such notice by mailing, or any defect in such notice, 
with respect to any bond shall not affect the validity of any proceedings for redemption of other 
bonds.] 

If this bond shall not be presented for payment or redemption on the date fixed therefor, 
the City may deposit in trust with the Paying Agent, an amount sufficient to pay such bond or the 
redemption price, as the case may be, including accrued interest to the date of such payment or 
redemption, and thereafter the registered owner shall look only to the funds so deposited in trust 
with that bank for payment, and the City shall have no further obligation or liability in respect 
thereto. 

[The bonds shall be initially issued in a Book Entry System (as defined in the Ordinance).  
The provisions of this bond and of the Ordinance are subject in all respects to the provisions of 
the Letter of Representations between the City and The Depository Trust Company, or any 
substitute agreement, effecting such Book Entry System.] 

THE OWNER OF THIS BOND, BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS BOND HEREBY 
AGREES TO ALL THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE ORDINANCE. 
The bonds are subject to defeasance prior to redemption or payment as provided in the 
Ordinance.  The Ordinance may be amended without the consent of the owners of the bonds as 
provided in the Ordinance if the Common Council in its sole discretion, determines that the 
amendment shall not adversely affect the rights of any of the owners of the bonds. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

The bonds maturing in any one year are issuable only in fully registered form in the 
denomination of [$5,000 or integral multiples thereof] OR [$100,000 and any integral multiple 
of $5,000 thereafter] not exceeding the aggregate principal amount of the bonds maturing in such 
year.  [The sale or transfer of this bond in principal amounts of less than $100,000 is prohibited 
other than through a primary offering.] 

It is hereby certified, recited and declared that all acts, conditions and things required to 
be done precedent to and in the execution, issuance and delivery of this bond have been done and 
performed in regular and due form as provided by law; that this bond and the total issue of the 
bonds is within every limit of indebtedness as prescribed by the constitution and laws of the State 
of Indiana. 

This bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of 
authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by an authorized representative of the 
Registrar. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Goshen, Elkhart County, Indiana, has caused this 
bond to be executed in the name of the City by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor, 
the seal of the City or a facsimile thereof to be affixed, imprinted, engraved or otherwise 
reproduced hereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk-Treasurer. 

 CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 By: _________________________________________ 
  Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

 
REGISTRAR'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 
This bond is one of the bonds described in the within mentioned Ordinance. 

______________________________, as Registrar 
 
 
 By: _______________________________________ 
 Authorized Representative 
 

ASSIGNMENT 
 

For value received the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto _________ 
____________________________________________________ [PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

SECURITY OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE: ________________] the 
within bond and does hereby constitute and appoint _________________, attorney, to transfer 
the bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the 
premises. 

Dated: 

__________________________ 

 
__________________________ 

(Registered Owner) 

Signature guaranteed: 

______________________________________ 
NOTICE:  The signature(s) to this assignment 
must correspond with the name as it appears 
upon the face of the within bond in every 
particular, without alteration or enlargement or 
any change whatsoever. 
 

_______________________________________ 
NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed by 
an eligible guarantor institution participating in 
a Securities Transfer Association recognized 
signature guarantee program. 

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription of the face of the within bond, 
shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or 
regulations. 

TEN COM as tenants in common 
TEN ENT. as tenants by the entireties 
JT TEN. as joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in 

common 

UNIF.TRAN.MIN.ACT _____________________ Custodian __________________ 
 (Cust) (Minor) 

under Uniform Transfer to Minors Act 

_________________________ 
(State) 

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in list above 

[EXHIBIT A] 
 

(end of bond form) 
 

Section 3. Sale of Bonds.  (a) Prior to the sale of the Bonds, the Clerk-Treasurer may 

cause to be published either (i) a notice of such sale, or (ii) a notice of intent to sell bonds in the 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

Court & Commercial Record and/or the Goshen News.  A notice or summary notice of sale may 

be published in the Court & Commercial Record or The Bond Buyer, financial journals published 

in the City of Indianapolis and in the City and State of New York, respectively, in the discretion 

of the Clerk-Treasurer.  The notice shall state the purpose for which the Bonds are being issued, 

the total amount of the Bonds, the maximum rate of interest on the Bonds, the time and place of 

payment, the terms and conditions on which bids will be received and the sale made, and such 

other information as the Clerk-Treasurer, upon advice of counsel deemed necessary.  The notice 

may provide, among other things, that electronic bidding will be permitted and that the 

successful bidder shall be required to submit a certified or cashier's check or a wire transfer to 

guarantee performance on the part of the bidder by 3:30 p.m. (EDT) on the next business day 

following the award.  In the event the successful bidder shall fail or refuse to accept delivery of 

the Bonds and pay for the same as soon as the Bonds are ready for delivery, or at the time fixed 

in the notice of sale, then the proceeds of such deposit shall become the property of the City and 

shall be considered as its liquidated damages on account of such default. 

Bidders for the Bonds shall be required to name the rate or rates of interest which the 

Bonds are to bear, not exceeding five percent (5.0%) or such lower maximum rate set forth in the 

notice, and such interest rate or rates shall be in multiples of one-eighth (1/8) or one-hundredth 

(1/100) of one percent (1%).  The rate bid on any maturity shall be equal to or greater than the 

rate bid on the immediately preceding maturity.   The Clerk-Treasurer shall award the Bonds to 

the highest responsible and qualified bidder.  The highest bidder shall be the one who offers the 

lowest net interest cost to the City, computing the total interest on all of the Bonds to the 

maturities and adding thereto the discount bid, if any, and deducting therefrom the premium bid, 

if any.  The Clerk-Treasurer shall have full right to reject any and all bids.  If no acceptable bid is 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

received at the time fixed in the notice for sale of the Bonds, the Clerk-Treasurer shall be 

authorized to continue to receive bids from day to day thereafter for a period not to exceed thirty 

(30) days, without readvertising, but during such continuation, no bid shall be accepted which 

offers an interest cost which is equal to or higher than the best bid received at the time fixed for 

such sale in the notice.  No conditional bid or bid for less than 99% of all of the Bonds will be 

considered. 

Prior to the delivery of the Bonds, the Clerk-Treasurer shall obtain a legal opinion as to 

the validity of the Bonds from Ice Miller LLP, bond counsel, of Indianapolis, Indiana, and shall 

furnish this opinion to the purchaser of the Bonds.  The cost of this opinion, the services of the 

City Attorney and the services of the City's municipal advisor shall be considered as part of the 

costs incidental to these proceedings and may be paid out of proceeds of the Bonds. 

(b) Distribution of an Official Statement (preliminary and final) for the Bonds 

prepared by the City's municipal advisor, on behalf of the City, is hereby authorized and 

approved and the Mayor or the Clerk-Treasurer is authorized and directed to execute the Official 

Statement on behalf of the City in a form consistent with this ordinance.  The Mayor or the 

Clerk-Treasurer is hereby authorized to designate the preliminary Official Statement as "nearly 

final" for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

In the alternative, the City may obtain an investment letter from the purchaser of the Bonds in a 

form which satisfies state and federal securities laws. 

(c) If the City's municipal advisor certifies to the City that it would be economically 

advantageous for the City to obtain a municipal bond insurance policy for the Bonds, the City 

hereby authorizes and directs the Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer to obtain such an insurance 

policy. The acquisition of a municipal bond insurance policy is hereby deemed economically 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

advantageous if the difference between the present value cost of (a) the total debt service on the 

Bonds if issued without municipal bond insurance and (b) the total debt service on the Bonds if 

issued with municipal bond insurance, is greater than the cost of the premium on the municipal 

bond insurance policy. 

Section 4. Preparation of Bonds.  The Clerk-Treasurer is hereby authorized and 

directed to have the Bonds prepared, and the Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer are hereby 

authorized and directed to execute the Bonds in a form and manner provided in this ordinance. 

Section 5. Defeasance.  If, when the Bonds or any portion thereof shall have become 

due and payable in accordance with their terms or shall have been duly called for redemption or 

irrevocable instructions to call the Bonds or a portion thereof for redemption shall have been 

given, and the whole amount of the principal and the interest and the premium, if any, so due and 

payable upon all of the Bonds then outstanding or any portion thereof shall be paid, or (i) 

sufficient moneys, or (ii) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on 

which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, the principal of and the 

interest on which when due will provide sufficient moneys, or shall be held in trust for such 

purpose, and provision shall also be made for paying all fees and expenses for the redemption, if 

any, then and in that case the Bonds issued hereunder or any designated portion thereof shall no 

longer be deemed outstanding or entitled to the pledges created under this ordinance. 

Section 6. Deposit and Application of Bond Proceeds; Surplus to Bond Payment 

Fund.  The Clerk-Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to deposit the proceeds of the 

Bonds in a separate fund ("Bond Proceeds Fund") to pay for:  (1) the cost of the Project and all 

other costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Project; and (2) costs of issuance of the 

Bonds.  Except as described in this Section, the Bond Proceeds Fund may not be used for any 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

other purpose.  The Bond Proceeds Fund shall, in accordance with IC 5-13, be deposited, at 

interest, with the depository or depositories of other public funds of the City, and all interest 

collected on it belongs to the fund.  Any surplus remaining from the proceeds of the Bonds after 

all costs and expenses are fully paid shall, in accordance with IC 5-1-13, be paid into and 

become a part of the City’s hereinafter defined Bond Payment Fund for the Bonds or to reduce 

the rate or amount of ad valorem property taxes imposed by the City. 

Section 7. Covenant to Levy Tax; Bond Payment Fund.  In order to provide for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, there shall be levied in each year upon all 

taxable property in the City, real and personal, and collected a tax in an amount and in such 

manner sufficient to meet and pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as they become due, 

and the proceeds of this tax are hereby pledged solely to the payment of the Bonds.  Such tax 

shall be deposited first, before any other deposits of tax revenues by the City, into a separate 

bond fund ("Bond Payment Fund") and used to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds, 

when due, together with any fiscal agency charges.  If the funds deposited into the Bond 

Payment Fund are then insufficient to meet and pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as 

they become due, then the City covenants to transfer other available funds of the City to meet 

and pay the principal and interest then due on the Bonds. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this ordinance, the City may enter into an 

agreement with the Registrar and Paying Agent in which the Registrar agrees that upon any 

default or insufficiency in the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds as provided in 

this ordinance, the Registrar will immediately, without any direction, security or indemnity, file a 

claim with the Treasurer of the State of Indiana for an amount equal to principal and interest in 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

default and consents to the filing of any such claim by a bondholder in the name of the Registrar 

for deposit with the Registrar. 

If the Clerk-Treasurer is designated as the Registrar and Paying Agent or if the agreement 

referred to in the preceding paragraph is not in place, the City covenants, under IC 6-1.1-20.6-10, 

to determine if the Bond Payment Fund has sufficient funds to pay the principal of and interest 

on the Bonds at least five (5) days before such payments are due.  If the Bond Payment Fund is 

not sufficient because of the operation of the tax credits granted under the provisions of IC 6-1.1-

20.6, the City agrees to the following: 

(a) The Clerk-Treasurer shall determine or cause to be determined the amount of the 

deficiency in the Bond Payment Fund ("Deficiency"); and 

(b) The Deficiency shall be immediately reported and a claim filed by the City with 

the Treasurer of the State of Indiana for an amount equal to such Deficiency. 

Section 8. Tax Covenants and Representations.  In order to preserve the exclusion of 

interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as existing on the date of issuance of the Bonds and the 

Regulations in effect and applicable to the Bonds on the date of issuance of the Bonds 

(collectively, "Code") and as an inducement to purchasers of the Bonds, the City represents, 

covenants and agrees that: 

(a) The Project will be available for use by members of the general public.  Use by a 

member of the general public means use by natural persons not engaged in a trade or business.  

No person or entity other than the City or another state or local governmental unit will use more 

than 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds or property financed by the Bond proceeds other than as a 

member of the general public.  No person or entity other than the City or another state or local 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

governmental unit will own property financed by Bond proceeds or will have any actual or 

beneficial use of such property pursuant to a lease, a management or incentive payment contract, 

arrangements such as take-or-pay or output contracts or any other type of arrangement that 

conveys other special legal entitlements and differentiates that person's or entity's use of such 

property from use by the general public, unless such uses in the aggregate relate to no more than 

10% of the proceeds of the Bonds. If the City enters into a management contract for any portion 

or all of the Project, the terms of the contract will comply with IRS Revenue Procedure 97-13, as 

it may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time, so that the contract will not 

give rise to private business use under the Code and the Regulations, unless such use in 

aggregate relates to no more than 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds.  

(b) No more than 10% of the principal of or interest on the Bonds is (under the terms 

of the Bonds,  this ordinance or any underlying arrangement), directly or indirectly, secured by 

an interest in property used or to be used for any private business use or payments in respect of 

any private business use or payments in respect of such property or to be derived from payments 

(whether or not to the City) in respect of such property or borrowed money used or to be used for 

a private business use. 

(c) No more than 5% of the Bond proceeds will be loaned to any person or entity 

other than another state or local governmental unit.  No more than 5% of the Bond proceeds will 

be transferred, directly or indirectly, or deemed transferred to a nongovernmental person in any 

manner that would in substance constitute a loan of the Bond proceeds. 

(d) The City reasonably expects, as of the date hereof, that the Bonds will not meet 

either the private business use test described in paragraph (a) and (b) above or the private loan 

test described in paragraph (c) above during the entire term of the Bonds. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(e) No more than 5% of the proceeds of the Bonds will be attributable to private 

business use as described in (a) and private security or payments described in (b) attributable to 

unrelated or disproportionate private business use.  For this purpose, the private business use test 

is applied by taking into account only use that is not related to any governmental use of proceeds 

of the issue (Unrelated Use) and use that is related but disproportionate to any governmental use 

of those proceeds (Disproportionate Use). 

(f) The City will not take any action nor fail to take any action with respect to the 

Bonds that would result in the loss of the exclusion from gross income for federal tax purposes 

on the Bonds pursuant to Section 103 of the Code, nor will the City act in any other manner 

which would adversely affect such exclusion.  The City covenants and agrees not to enter into 

any contracts or arrangements which would cause the Bonds to be treated as private activity 

bonds under Section 141 of the Code. 

(g) It shall be not an event of default under this ordinance if the interest on any Bond 

is not excludable from gross income for federal tax purposes or otherwise pursuant to any 

provision of the Code which is not currently in effect and in existence on the date of issuance of 

the Bonds. 

(h) These covenants are based solely on current law in effect and in existence on the 

date of delivery of such Bonds. 

(i) The City represents that: 

(1) The City is a governmental unit with general taxing powers, which powers 

include the power to impose taxes of general applicability that, when collected, may be 

used for the general purposes of the City; 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(2) The Bonds are not private activity bonds as defined in Section 141 of the 

Code; 

(3) At least 95% of the net proceeds of the Bonds will be used for local 

governmental activities of the City or of a governmental unit, the jurisdiction of which is 

entirely within the jurisdiction of the City; 

(4) The aggregate face amount of all tax-exempt bonds (other than private 

activity bonds) issued by the City and all units subordinate to the City, including on-

behalf-of issuers and subordinate entities as those terms are defined in Regulations 

Section 1.148-8(c)(2), is not reasonably expected to exceed $5,000,000 in calendar year 

2021; and 

(5) The City has not been formed or availed of to otherwise avoid the 

purposes of the $5,000,000 size limitation. 

Therefore, the City meets the requirements of Section 148(f)(4)(D) of the Code and will 

not have to rebate any arbitrage profits to the United States. 

(j) The City represents that: 

(1) The Bonds are not private activity bonds as defined in Section 141 of the 

Code; 

(2) The City hereby designates the Bonds as qualified tax-exempt obligations 

for purposes of Section 265(b) of the Code; 

(3) The reasonably anticipated amount of qualified tax-exempt obligations 

(including qualified 501(c)(3) obligations and tax-exempt leases but excluding other 

private activity bonds) which will be issued by the City, and all entities subordinate to the 

City  during 2021 does not exceed $10,000,000; and 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

(4) The City will not designate more than $10,000,000 of qualified 

tax-exempt obligations during 2021. 

Therefore, the Bonds qualify for the exception in the Code from the disallowance of 

100% of the deduction by financial institutions of interest expense allocable to newly 

acquired tax-exempt obligations. 

(k) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this ordinance, the covenants and 

authorizations contained in this ordinance ("Tax Sections") which are designed to preserve the 

exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income under federal law ("Tax Exemption") need 

not be complied with if the City receives an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that 

compliance with any Tax Section is unnecessary to preserve the Tax Exemption. 

Section 9. Continuing Disclosure. If necessary to sell the Bonds, the Mayor and the 

Clerk-Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to complete, execute and attest on behalf of 

the City a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking ("Undertaking") that complies with the 

requirements of SEC Rule 15c2-12.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this ordinance, 

failure of the City to comply with the Undertaking shall not be considered an event of default 

under the Bonds or this ordinance. 

Section 10. Debt Limit Not Exceeded.  The City represents and covenants that the 

Bonds herein authorized, when combined with other outstanding indebtedness of the City at the 

time of issuance of the Bonds, will not exceed any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitation on the City's indebtedness. 

Section 11. Severability.  If any section, paragraph or provision of this ordinance shall 

be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the invalidity or unenforcability of such 

section, paragraph or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this ordinance. 



 
4831-4217-8524.2 

Section 12. Repeal of Conflicting Provisions.  All ordinances, or parts thereof, in 

conflict with the provisions of this ordinance, are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed 

or amended. 

Section 13. Amendments to Ordinance.  This ordinance may, from time to time 

hereafter, be amended without the consent of the owners of the Bonds, if in the sole discretion of 

the Council, such amendment shall not adversely affect the rights of the owners of any of the 

Bonds. 

Section 14. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect 

immediately upon passage. 

Adopted this _______ day of    , 2021. 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Presiding Officer 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this ____ day of 

_______________, 2021, at __:__ _.m. 

_______________________________________ 
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk Treasurer 

 
This ordinance signed and approved by me, the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, 

this ____ day of ______________, 2021, at __:__ _.m. 

_______________________________________ 
Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 
I\5958503.1 

ORDINANCE NO. 5097 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOSHEN 
APPROPRIATING THE PROCEEDS OF THE GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS OF 2021 

 
WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana ("Issuer") has 

determined to issue bonds to provide for the cost of the acquisition, renovation and construction 
of City administrative buildings, office space and infrastructure, together with all necessary 
appurtenances, related improvements and equipment ("Project") and the incidental expenses in 
connection therewith, and on account of the issuance of the General Obligation Bonds of 2021 
("Bonds"); and 

WHEREAS, a notice of a public hearing on the appropriation of the proceeds of the 
Bonds in an amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000) 
to be issued for the purpose of procuring funds to be applied on the cost of the Project and the 
incidental expenses to be incurred in connection therewith and with the issuance and sale of the 
Bonds was properly published which proof of publication was presented to the Common Council 
and placed in the City's records; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. An appropriation in an amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000) is hereby made to be applied on the costs of the Project and the 
incidental expenses incurred in connection therewith and on account of the issuance of Bonds 
therefor, and that the funds to meet said appropriation be provided out of the proceeds of the 
Bonds in an amount not to exceed Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000) 
heretofore authorized; that said appropriation be in addition to all other appropriations provided 
for in the existing budget and tax levy for the current year. 

Section 2. The Clerk-Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to report and certify 
the additional appropriation to the Department of Local Government Finance. 

Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage. 



- 2 - 
 
I\5958503.1 

Adopted this ___ day of   , 2021. 

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Presiding Officer 

       
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this ____ day of   

 , 2021, at __:__ _.m. 

_______________________________________ 
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk Treasurer 

 
 

This ordinance signed and approved by me, the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, 

this ____ day of    , 2021, at __:__ _.m. 

_______________________________________ 
Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 

 



Ordinance 5098 

 

 

Approving the Transaction of Lease/Purchase Agreement 

for a Combination Sewer Truck 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City’s Utilities is purchasing a new combination sewer truck for the 
amount of Four Hundred Eighty-Six Thousand One Hundred Fifty-Five Dollars ($486,155.00) and 
wishes to finance the amount of Four Hundred One Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty-Five Dollars 
($401,755.00) through U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and Finance, Inc. 
 WHEREAS, the City’s Utilities is obligated under the terms of the Lease/Purchase 
Agreement attached to and made a part of this resolution to make 5 annual payments of $83,245.00 
at an interest rate of 1.53% with the first payment due January 9, 2022. 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Goshen Common Council that the 
financing of the combination sewer truck through U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and Finance, 
Inc. is approved.  
 PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on September 7, 2021. 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Jeremy P. Stutsman, Presiding Officer 
 
Attest:  
 
_______________________________________ 
Richard Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer  
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on March _____, 2021 at ________ 
a.m./p.m. 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Richard Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 APPROVED and ADOPTED on March _____, 2021. 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 


















































	09.07.21 Council Agenda
	2021.08.17 Council Minutes draft
	Ord 5094
	Res. 2021-27
	Ord. 5095
	Ord 5096
	Ord 5097
	Ord. 5098
	2021-09-01 Lease Documents


